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The Ralph Banks House, known as the Coldwater Plantation was built by Ralph Banks who
in 1785 settled in the fertile region between the Savannah and Broad Rivers in what is now
Elbert County. Exactly when the frame, two story house with front and rear shed porches,
jerkin head roof, diaper pattern chimneys and a four room central hall plan was built is no
known, but speculations range from 1788 to 1800.

An avenue of elms leads to the front facade of the house which has a one-story full
width porch supported by square wood pillars, and a central gable. Underneath the porch ar
is flush siding, a central door with a transom light and four large nine-over-nine windows
with shutters. Above the porch are five corresponding smaller six-over-six windows. The
rear facade is similar to the front, having corresponding windows and a shed porch which is
supported by turned posts. A one room late 19th century frame kitchen appendage now stands
perpendicular to the northern half of the rear facade.

The Banks House with its jerkin head gable roof, originally had a pair of chimneys at
each end; one on the northern end has fallen, but the southern chimneys standing today dis-
playing their diaper pattern of glazed headers. The chimneys have been repointed, making
their design of three concentric diamonds difficult to perceive. On each chimney, six
concentric diamonds are stacked one on top of the other reaching up to the shoulder whose
slope is emphasized with tumbling brickwork. The stacks are decorated with a stringcourse
at the cap and the bases are stepped. One chimney has a plaster inset where apparently a
name or date was inscribed.

This large house has two stories, plus cellar and attic. Originally an enclosed stair
case starting from the rear of the central hall provided access to both floors and the atti
space. Now a single flight of open stairs starts from the front of the central hall, lead-
ing only to the second floor. On the first floor, the central hall walls are made of thick
horizontal pine sheathing, while on the second floor the hall has vertical paneling. The
direction of the sheathing in the siderooms on the two floors is similarly incongruent; the
rooms on the second floor are made of vertical paneling while rooms below have horizontal
paneling. The first story rooms have approximately ten foot ceilings while the upper story
ceilings are somewhat lower. The siderooms have cross and bible doors and 32 inch chair
rails. Mantelpieces in the side rooms of the main floor and on the front two of the seconc
floor rooms, each have mantelpieces that vary slightly but can generally be described as
being approximately four and a half feet high and five feet wide with side pilasters rising
to an unadorned frieze then up to a mantel shelf which extends vertically about six inches
beyond the pilasters making the total width of the mantels span at least six feet. In the
corner of one room on the first floor is a high and narrow cupboard with a tall splayed
entablature beneath which is a glazed section of shelves, and a paneled cabinet below that.
Recently, modern bathroom facilities have been carved out of the southeast room on the
second floor and in the added appendage along the north end of the bottom floor.

Behind the Bank's House are various fruit trees and two 19th century outbuildings.
Both outbuildings are frame constructed and weatherboard siding; one is square with a
conical roof and the other is one room structure with a low shed porch. Further away from
the house stands a group of barns and sheds. Beyond the outbuildings the sloping pasture
land is intersected by Coldwater Creek. Today the house is located about two miles east o:
Georgia Highway 77 and about 2.3 miles south of the Elbert-Hart County line in Elbert
County.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Ralph Banks House of Elbert County, Georgia, is of statewide significance both
architecturally and historically. Historically the house is known as the birthplace of
Dr. Richard Banks for whom Banks County Georgia was named and was the supposed site of the
first Methodist Conference held by Bishop Asbury in 1788. Probably built during the time
period from 1788 to 1800, the Banks House is one of the oldest and most unusual houses in
Georgia. Characteristics in the Banks House that are unusual in Georgia for this early date
include the jerkin head roof and the large four-over-four room plan. Another salient
feature of this house is the diapered pattern brickwork in the chimneys.

Ralph Banks was a prominent member of the Coldwater Community which consisted of a
"fine class from Virginia and North Carolina, being of wealth and culture." Banks himself
an educated man, saw to it that all fourteen of his children were educated. One son,
Richard, took his medical degree from the University of Pennsylvania; his skill as a surgeo
was known throughout Georgia and South Carolina. The federal government employed Dr. Banks
to visit the Cherokee Indians, and he earned the gratitude of these native Americans by som
very marvelous cures. Due to his universal esteem, in 1858 when the Cherokee territory was
obtained, it was called Banks County in his honor.

At the time of Ralph Banks'death in 1824, Coldwater Plantation had served as the home
of the Middle Georgia's wealthiest cotton and tobacco planters, his wife and their fourteen
children. Coming to Georgia in 1785 from Granville County North Carolina, Banks was grante
a parcel of land on Coldwater Creek in Wilkes County which changed to Elbert County in 1790
According to local tradition, Banks had finished his large house before 1788 when he marrie
his childhood sweetheart from North Carolina and brought her to Georgia. This claim is
dubiously based on another claim that the First Methodist Conference in Georgia, lead by
Bishop Asbury, was held at the Banks House in 1788, According to Asburys Journal "our
conference began at the Forks of Broad River where six members and four probationers attend
ed". There are no grounds to suppose the conference was held at the Ralph Banks House sinc
the forks of Broad River consisted of an area called Petersburg, 20 miles away. In 1799
Asbury's Journals do give us reason to believe that the house was constructed; he writes in
November; '"Rode twenty miles to Coldwater; in a cold day, and held meeting in a cold house,

- but we had a warm hearted people, and were comfortably entertained by Ralph Banks". So in

1799 we know Ralph Banks had a comfortable dwelling, of some description. No other documen
tation exists or hints as to when the house was built, but by 1800 the Banks family had
expanded to eleven members and the large amount of living space needed suggests the house
was already built and accommodating the growing family.

A four-over-four room with central hall plan is unusually large for 1788 in Georgia
where the typical plan for such a date would have been two-over~two without central hall. I:
the house was indeed built by 1788 it is the oldest existing house in Elbert County and one
of the oldest extant buildings in the state of Georgia. The Banks House has some very

(continued)
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
Beginning point is 2 miles on a dirt road e of Highway 77 at intersection of S986, from
here continue in a northerly direction fop”550' then due east for 1700' to Coldwater Creek.
Follow Coldwater Creek southeast to it@g”intersection with Gum Log Branch; then follow Gum
Log Branch in a southwest directiogfor 1800'; continue due west for 1500' to S986, then
follow S986 for 1800' to beginnimg€ point.
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interesting and unusual architectural characteristics for Georgia. Its jerkin head gable
roof is uncommon in Georgia during this early period, but is found often in more northern
ly states. Another characteristic rarely seen in Georgia is the diaper pattern chimmey.
Diapering is a rarity in Georgia but there are two other nearby examples in Elbert County
one is the Rucker House (c.1815) and the Ralph Gaines House (1820). The great similarity
between these chimneys and the rarity of diapering hints at the possibility that the same
craftsman constructed all these chimneys.

Ralph Banks House, over 170 years old, stands today in excellent condition as a
remnant of a large and self sustaining plantation of a wealthy tobacco and cotton planter
According to his Estate Inventory in 1824, at the time of his death, Banks had 63 slaves,
a large amount of livestock including horses, cows, fattened pigs, geese and sheep. His
crops included potatoes, wheat, peas, oats, corn plus 3594 pounds of "ginded" cotton and
215 gallons of brandy, nineteen of wine. The Bank's Coldwater Plantation consisted of a
tannery, sawmill and blacksmith shop. Folklore tells us that Ralph Banks "always had
grain to sell and money to lend. Banks wealth is reflected in his list of household
furniture, which included "1 clock and looking glass . . . lot of books . . . 6 Windsor
chairs . . . a corner cupboard . . . 3 candlesticks . . . 2 carpets . . . silver spoons .
. . pewter and tin . . . plus a sideboard, tables, bedroom furniture, chests, etc. . . ".
One documented account of Banks dealings with a master craftsman does exist in his Estate
Accounts: in 1804, 4 dollars was paid to John Cooper who was a well known chairmaker.

Presently the house has been purchased by Banks descendants and is used by them on

weekends and for family reunions. One hundred and fifty acres of land associated with
Coldwater Plantation are now used as pasture.

GPO 892 455
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AMENDMENT
RALPH BANKS PLACE, ELBERT COUNTY, GEORGIA

Acreage of Nominated Property: . approximately 15

Quadrangle Name: Rock Branch

Quadrangle Scale: 1:24000

UIM References: A 17/3788690/328300
B 17/3788680/328830
C 17/3789130/328380

Verbal Boundary Description: Beginning at a point on the highway to the south
of the main house, where the 600 foot Contour Interval crosses the highway, the
boundary follows the Contour Interval on the east side of the highway until it
again meets the highway north of the main house, then follows south along the
highway until the point of origin, excepting the highway right-of-way.

The acreage nominated includes the essential part of the plantation: the main
house and outbuildings within a natural feature (the 600 foot Contour Interval).
The outbuildings are marked on the U.S.G.S. map attached.

On December 2, 1976, the Georgia Review Board recommended that the Ralph Banks
Place be listed on the National Register due to the eligibility of the structure
and not the acreage. The Board does not require consultation upon reduction of
acreage. :
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